
HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD  
FULL BOARD REGULAR MEETING  

September 12, 2024  
6:00 P.M.  

CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM # 1  
ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA  

OAKLAND, CA 94612  
 

AGENDA  
 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
The public may observe or participate in this meeting in many ways.  
 

OBSERVE:  
• To observe, the public may view the televised video conference by viewing KTOP 
channel 10 on Xfinity (Comcast) or ATT Channel 99 and locating City of Oakland KTOP 
– Channel 10  
• To observe the meeting by video conference, please click on the link below:  
When: September 12, 2024 06:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada)  
Please click the link below to join the webinar:  
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/km2Xw3ngL
One tap mobile:  
+16699009128,,82672863671# US (San Jose), +16694449171,,82672863671# US 
Or by telephone: +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose), +1 669 444 9171 US, +1 253 215 
8782 US (Tacoma), +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston), +1 719 359 4580 US, +1 253 205 
0468 US, +1 646 931 3860 US, +1 689 278 1000 US, +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington 
DC), +1 305 224 1968 US, +1 309 205 3325 US, +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago), +1 360 
209 5623 US, +1 386 347 5053 US, +1 507 473 4847 US, +1 564 217 2000 US, +1 646 
558 8656 US (New York) 
Webinar ID: 826 7286 3671
International Numbers Available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/km2Xw3ngL 
 
The Zoom link is to view/listen to the meeting only, not for participation.  

 
 

PARTICIPATION/COMMENT:  
There is one way to submit public comments:  
• To participate/comment during the meeting, you must attend in-person. Comments on 
all agenda items will be taken during public comment at the beginning of the meeting. 
Comments for items not on the agenda will be taken during open forum towards the end 
of the meeting.  
 

If you have any questions, please email hearingsunit@oaklandca.gov  
 
 

 

000001



HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD MEETING

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ROLL CALL

3. PUBLIC COMMENT
a. Comments on all agenda items will be taken at this time. Comments for

items not on the agenda will be taken during open forum.

4. CONSENT ITEMS

5. APPROVAL OF BOARD MINUTES, 07/25/2024 (pp.4-6)

6. APPEALS*
a. T23-0058, Brooks v. Campbell (pp.7-102)
b. L24-0025, Sun v. Tenant (pp.103-149)

7. RESOLUTION (1) ADOPTING, SUBJECT TO CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL,
AMENDMENT OF THE RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM REGULATIONS TO
PERMIT ANY CATEGORY OF MEMBER OF THE HOUSING,RESIDENTIAL
RENT, AND RELOCATION BOARD TO SERVE AS A BOARD OFFICER AND
(2) RECOMMENDING THE CITY COUNCIL’S APPROVAL OF THE
REGULATION AMENDMENT (pp.159-160)

8. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

9. NEW BOARD BUSINESS

10. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS
a. Reviewing and rescheduling training.(pp.161)

11. OPEN FORUM
a. Comments from the public on all items will be taken at this time.

12. ADJOURNMENT

*Staff appeal summaries will be available at the Rent Program website and the Clerk’s office at
least 72 hours prior to the meeting pursuant to O.M.C. 2.20.080.C and 2.20.090

As a reminder, alternates in attendance (other than those replacing an absent board member) 
will not be able to take any action, such as with regard to the consent calendar.

Accessibility: Contact us to request disability-related accommodations, American Sign 
Language (ASL), Spanish, Cantonese, Mandarin, or another language interpreter at 
least five (5) business days before the event. Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) staff can 

000002



be contacted via email at RAP@oaklandca.gov or via phone at (510) 238-3721. 
California relay service at 711 can also be used for disability-related accommodations.

Si desea solicitar adaptaciones relacionadas con discapacidades, o para pedir un 
intérprete de en Español, Cantones, Mandarín o de lenguaje de señas (ASL) por favor 
envié un correo electrónico a RAP@oaklandca.gov o llame al (510) 238-3721 o 711 por 
lo menos cinco días hábiles antes de la reunión.

, , , ,
RAP@oaklandca.gov (510) 238-3721 711 California relay service.

000003



HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD 
FULL BOARD REGULAR MEETING

July 25, 2024
6:00 P.M.

CITY HALL
1 FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA, HEARING ROOM #1

OAKLAND, CA 94612

MINUTES 

1. CALL TO ORDER

The Board meeting was administered in-person by Nyila Webb from the Rent 
Adjustment Program (RAP), Housing and Community Development Department. 
Nyila Webb explained the procedure for conducting the meeting. The HRRRB 
meeting was called to order by Chair Oshinuga at 6:05 p.m.

2. ROLL CALL

MEMBER STATUS PRESENT ABSENT EXCUSED
D. WILLIAMS Tenant X
J. DEBOER Tenant X
Vacant Tenant Alt.
M. GOOLSBY Tenant Alt. X
C. OSHINUGA Undesignated X          
Vacant Undesignated 

Alt.
Vacant Undesignated

Alt.
K. BRODFUEHRER Landlord X
C. JACKSON Landlord Alt. X
Vacant Landlord Alt.

Staff Present
Kent Qian Deputy City Attorney
Marguerita Fa-Kaji Senior Hearing Officer (RAP)
Nyila Webb Administrative Assistant II (RAP)

3. PUBLIC COMMENT
a. One speaker card submitted.

4. CONSENT ITEMS

000004



a. Approval of Board Minutes, 06/27/2024: 
Member J. deBoer moved to approve the Board Minutes from 
06/27/2024. Member K. Brodfuhrer seconded the motion.

The Board voted as follows: 

Aye: C. Oshinuga, J. deBoer, M. Brodfueher, C. Jackson
Nay: None
Abstain: None

The motion was approved.

5. APPEALS*
a. T18-0249, Reber-Kendrick v. Wasserman-Stern Law Offices

- Acting Chair C. Oshinuga made the decision to give appellant and 
respondent six minutes each for opening comment and six minutes each for 
rebuttals. 

- The Board asked both parties questions while deliberating amongst 
themselves and City staff about case. 

- Member J. DeBoer made a motion to remand case to hearing officer to
address whether 1. Civil Code 1954.53(d)(2), read together with 
1954.53(d)(3), allows a market-rate rent increase to an original occupant 
who moved into the unit at the commencement of tenancy, consistent with 
the Board’s instructions in the latest appeal decision in T18-0018, Sund v. 
Vernon Street Apartments; 2. If the hearing officer finds that Costa-Hawkins 
allows increases on an existing tenancy, reexamine the definition of 
“permanently resides” under Costa-Hawkins as opposed to “primary 
residences” and whether the tenant permanently resided at the subject unit 
at the time of the Costa-Hawkins rent increase notice. Parties must be
allowed to brief the issue of the application of Costa-Hawkins as described 
in number 1 and the meaning of permanently resides as described on 
number 2. Member C Jackson seconded the motion. 

The Board voted as follows: 

Aye: C. Oshinuga, J. deBoer, M. Brodfueher, C. Jackson
Nay: None
Abstain: None

The motion was approved.

6. RESOLUTION (1) ADOPTING, SUBJECT TO CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL, 
AMENDMENT OF THE RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM REGULATIONS 
TO PERMIT ANY CATEGORY OF MEMBER OF THE 

000005



HOUSING,RESIDENTIAL RENT, AND RELOCATION BOARD TO SERVE 
AS A BOARD OFFICER AND (2) RECOMMENDING THE CITY COUNCIL’S 
APPROVAL OF THE REGULATION AMENDMENT 

7. INFORMATION AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
8. NEW BOARD BUSINESS
9. SCHEDULING AND REPORTS

a. Reviewing and rescheduling training.
10.OPEN FORUM

a. Comments from the public on all items will be taken at this time.
11.ADJOURNMENT

a. Member C. Jackson made a motion to adjourn meeting before 
completing Agenda items 6-10 due to scheduling conflicts. Member K. 
Brodfueher seconded the motion. 

The Board voted as follows: 

Aye: C. Oshinuga, J. deBoer, M. Brodfueher, C. Jackson
Nay: None
Abstain: None

The motion was approved.
- Meeting adjourned at 8:07pm. 

000006



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT

Case No.: T23-0058

Case Name: Brooks v. Campbell

Property Address: 200 Frisbie Street, Berkeley, CA 94702

Parties:              Cheri Brooks (Tenant)
David Hall (Tenant Representative)
Severin Campbell (Owner)

TENANT APPEAL:

Activity Date

Petition Filed(Tenant) May 1, 2023

Response Filed(Owner) June 27, 2023

Tenant’s Submissions August 10, 2023

Administrative Decision August 22, 2023

Appeal Filed(Owner) August 29, 2023

Appeal Hearing October 12, 2023

Appeal Decision November 7, 2023

Hearing Decision Mailed April 17, 2024

Appeal Filed April 26, 2024

000007



000008



000009



000010



000011



000012



000013



000014



Case T23-0058

Property Address 200 Frisbie Street

Parties

Party Name Address Mailing Address
Representative Gregory Ching 3400 East 12th Street

Centro Legal de la Raza
(510) 437-1554 Oakland, CA 94601
gching@centrolegal.org

Tenant Cheri Brooks 200 Frisbie Street
Unit 200

(510) 292-0644 Oakland, CA 94611
qkcam45@att.net

Owner Severin Campbell 1315 Stannage Avenue
(510) 417-0022 Berkeley, CA 94702
frisbieoakland@gmail.com

Business Information

Date of which you aquired the building 3-1-2015

Total Number of Units 4

Is there more than one street address on the parcel? Yes

Type of Unit Apartment,
Room or
Live-work

Is the contested increase a capital improvements increase? No

Business License 00173653

Have you paid your business license? Yes

Have you paid the Rent Adjustment Program Service Fee ($101 per unit)? Yes

Rent History

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland

000015



The tenant moved into the rental unit on 7-1-2010

Initial monthly rent 1045

Have you (or a previous Owner) given the City of Oakland’s form entitled
Notice to Tenants of Residential Rent Adjustment Program (“RAP Notice”)
to all of the petitioning tenants?

Yes

On what date was the notice first given? 3-27-2015

Is the tenant current on the rent? Yes

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland

000016



Are you claiming an Exemption? No

Owner Responses on Petition Grounds

Questions Owner Response

Tenant did not receive proper notice, was not properly served,
and/or was not provided with the required RAP form with rent
increase(s)

We provided RAP notices in March 2015,
September 2016, and May 2018

A government agency has cited the unit for serious health,
safety, fire, or building code violations.

n/a

The owner is providing tenant(s) with fewer housing services
and/or charging for services originally paid for by the owner.

n/a

Tenant(s) is/are being unlawfully charged for utilities. n/a

Rent was not reduced a er a prior rent increase period for
capital improvements.

No rent reduction was indicated. RAP
approved an increase of

$118.37, e ective July 2018, increasing
rent from $1337 to $1455. At

tenant's request, we kept the rent flat at
$1337. Please see attached for

details.

Tenant is contesting exemption based on fraud or mistake. n/a

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland

000017



Tenant’s initial rent amount was unlawful because owner was
not permitted to set initial rent without limitation (O.M.C. §
8.22.080C).

n/a

I/We declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws of the State of California that
everything I/We said in this response is true and that all the documents attached to the response
are true copies of the originals.

Severin Campbell 6/27/2023
Signature Date

---------------END OF RESPONSE---------------

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
Owner Response

City of Oakland

000018



Property Owner Response to Tenant Pe on of Cheri Brooks received 5/2/2023 
 
Property address:  200 Frisbie St., Oakland, CA 94611 
Property owners:  Severin Campbell, Julie Moss, Leah Orlo  
Date of Response: 5/3/2023 

The history of rent increases at 200 Frisbie Street is as follows: 

We hand-delivered a no ce of increase in rent to Ms. Brooks on August 29, 2015, increasing the 
rent from $1105 to $1215. This increase included a CPI increase of 1.7% and a pass through for 
capital costs of 8.3%.  This was in accordance with the Rent Adjustment Program regula ons at 
that me.  A RAP no ce was included with the rent increase no ce. 

We no ed Ms. Brooks on September 1, 2016 of the rent increase from $1215 to $1337, 
e ec ve October 1, 2016. This increase included a CPI increase of 2% (applied only to the base 
rent and not the capital pass-through amount) and a pass through for capital costs of 8%. This 
was in accordance with the Rent Adjustment Program regula ons at that me. A RAP no ce was 
included with the rent increase no ce. 

We no ed Ms. Brooks on May 31, 2018 of the Rent Adjustment Program decision that her rent 
could be increased to $1455. A RAP no ce was included with the rent increase no ce. At Ms. 
Brooks request, we agreed to keep the rent at $1337. 

Ms. Brooks base rent as of October 1, 2015 was $1,123 (an increase of 1.7% from prior rent of 
$1,105). Based on annual CPI adjustments, Ms. Brooks base rent increased to $1352 as of August 
2022. We no ed Ms. Brooks on January 2, 2023 that her rent would increase from $1337 to 
$1352. 

The total approved capital pass through amount for Ms. Brooks was $15,919.  This amount was 
approved by the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program. Actual capital pass through paid by Ms. 
Brooks between October 2015 and August 2022 was $8,158.   

000019



5/2/23, 6:29 PM Gmail - Rent Increase as of October 1, 2016

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ik=173946f51b&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1544291574225784282%7Cmsg-f:1544291574225784282&… 1/1

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com>

Rent Increase as of October 1, 2016
1 message

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com> Thu, Sep 1, 2016 at 10:33 AM
To: cb brooks <qkcam45@att.net>
Bcc: Leah Orloff <leahorloff@gmail.com>, "Julie C. Moss" <juliecmoss@gmail.com>

Dear Cheri

We are increasing the rent for your apartment on October 1, 2016.  Attached is the letter with the 30 day notice of the
increase, and the statement of your rights from the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.  I also delivered a hard copy of
this notice to your apartment.

If this increase causes financial hardship because of you disability status, we are willing to work with you to adjust the
rent. Please let us know if you have any questions.

Thank you.

Severin, Leah and Julie

2 attachments

Notice of Rent Increase October 2016.Unit 200.docx
18K

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.pdf
291K

000020



5/2/23, 6:33 PM Gmail - Notice of Rent Increase

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/2/?ik=173946f51b&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-a:mmiai-r-3661900611048442792%7Cmsg-a:s:-8867376929… 1/1

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com>

Notice of Rent Increase
1 message

Frisbie Oakland <frisbieoakland@gmail.com> Thu, May 31, 2018 at 3:44 PM
To: c b <qkcam45@att.net>
Bcc: juliecmoss <juliecmoss@gmail.com>, Leah Orloff <leahorloff@gmail.com>

Dear Cheri

The Rent Adjustment Program approved our petition to increase the rent.  We have attached a letter  to increase your
monthly rent to $1,445.60 effective July 1, 2018.

Please see the attached (1) notice of rent increase, (2) notice of Rent Adjustment Program decision, and (3) Rent
Adjustment Program provisions.

We also sent these documents by certified mail on May 25, 2018.

Severin, Leah and Julie

3 attachments

Notice of Rent Incease.C Brooks.pdf
218K

RAP Notice.pdf
170K

Rent Board Decision 4-26-18.pdf
16788K

000021



 Apt 200 
Base April 2015 1,105.00     
CPI Oct 2015 18.79          
New Base Oct 2015 1,123.79     
Capital Pass Through 91.72          
Total Rent Oct 2015 1,215.50     

Base Oct 2015 1,123.79     
CPI Oct 2016 22.48          
New Base Oct 2016 1,146.26     
Capital Pass Through 190.79        
Total Rent Oct 2016 1,337.05     

Total Rent July 2018 1,337.05     
Five-year increase 19%

Revised July 2019
Base 1,254.93     
RAP Capital Pass Through 82.12          

1,337.05     

Revised July 2020
Base 1,288.81     
RAP Capital Pass Through 48.24          

1,337.05     

Revised July 2021
Base 1,313.30     
RAB CPT 23.75          

1,337.05     

Base Rent Cap
1.7% increase Oct 2015 - Sep 2016 1,123.79     1,215.50     91.71          
2% increase Oct 2016 - Jun 2017 1,146.26     1,337.05     190.79        
2.3% Increase 2017 (Jul 17 - Jun 18) 1,172.62     1,337.05     164.43        
3.4% increase 2018 (Jul 18 - Jun 19 1,212.49     1,337.05     124.56        
3.5% increase 2019 (Jul 19 - Jun 20) 1,254.93     1,337.05     82.12          
2.7% increase 2020 (Jul 20 - Jun 21) 1,288.81     1,337.05     48.24          
1.9% increase 2021 (Jul 21 - Jul 22) 1,313.30     1,337.05     23.75          
3.0% increase 2022 (Aug 22 - Jun 23) 1,352.70     1,337.05     (15.65)        

000022



Capital Pass Through  Apt 200 
Capital Pass Through Amount                  7,396.63 
Oct 2015 - Sep 2016 (1,100.58)
Oct 2016 - Jun 2017 (1,717.10)
Jul 2017-June 2018 (1,973.10)
Subtotal 2,605.84
RAP Approval 8,522.64
Jul 18 - Jun 19 (1,494.67)
Jul 19 - Jun 20 (985.43)
Jul 20 - Jun 21 (578.83)
Jul 21 - Jul 22 (308.73)
Aug 22 - Jan 23
Subtotal 7,760.83

Total approved capital pass through 15,919.27
Total paid (8,158.44)
Balance waived 7,760.83

000023



1/16/23, 8:12 AM Receipt

https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Renew/Renew5 1/2

Guest Report a ProblemHome
Account # 00173653

LEAH ORLOFF SEVERIN CAMPBELL
Find Account Registration Calculation Payment Receipt

Business License Online Renewal 

PRINT THIS PAGE FOR YOUR RECORD
The business tax license renewal has been submitted. Business tax certificates will be emailed 2 to 5 days after sucessfully renewing
account. For questions, please contact the Business Tax office at (510) 238-3704 or btwebsupport@oaklandca.gov. Thank you, City
of Oakland - Business Tax

Submission Date 1/16/2023
Confirmation # 393954

Account Information
Account # 00173653
Expire Date 12/31/2023
Name LEAH ORLOFF SEVERIN CAMPBELL
Address 202 FRISBIE ST
City OAKLAND
Phone (510) 417-0022

Summary

Input Amount
Tax Calculation
Current Year Business Tax – Residential/Non-Residential Rental 89,640.48 $1,250.48
BT SB1186 (AB1379) 1 $4.00
BT Recordation and Tech 1 $4.50
Total # of Employees, Excluding Owners - report only employees that work within Oakland $0.00
Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) Calculation - only use whole numbers below
a. Total # of units per Alameda County Records: 4 $404.00
Total Due $1,662.98

Payment Information
Payment Amount $1,662.98

After printing or saving this page for your records, you may close this browser window/tab.

Select Language

OFFICIALSEVENTSDEPARTMENTSSERVICESNEWS

Elected Officials
Departments
Boards and Commissions
Staff Directory

Services
News & Updates
Events
Documents

#OaklandLoveLife
Oakland Library
Visit Oakland
Oakland Museum

For Assistance
Email: btwebsupport@oaklandca.go
Phone: (510) 238-3704

City of Oakland
250 Frank H Ogawa Plaza, Suite 132

000024



1/16/23, 8:12 AM Receipt

https://ltss.oaklandnet.com/Renew/Renew5 2/2

Oakland, CA 94612

Hours:
8:00 AM-4:00 PM
Monday, Tuesday, Thursday ,Friday

9:30 AM-4:00 PM Wednesdays.

000025



00
00
26



Page 1 of 2
Proof of Service 
Rev. 5/21/2021

CITY OF OAKLAND
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243
(510) 238-3721
CA Relay Service 711
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp.

PROOF OF SERVICE

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY 
ATTACHMENTS) ON THE TENANT(S) PRIOR TO FILING YOUR RESPONSE WITH RAP. 

1) Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner of service and the person(s) served.

2) Note: Email is not a form of allowable service on a party of a petition or response pursuant to the Ordinance.
3) Provide a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the person(s) being served together with the

documents being served.
4) File a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form with RAP together with your Response. Your

Response will not be considered complete until this form has been filed indicating that service has occurred.

On the following date: _____/_____/_____ I served a copy of (check all that apply):

PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION plus ______ attached pages 
(number of pages attached to Response not counting the Response form or PROOF OF 
SERVICE)

Other: ___________________________________________

by the following means (check one):

United States Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to the
person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with the
United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

Personal Service. I personally delivered the document(s) to the person(s) at the address(es)
listed below or I left the document(s) at the address(es) with some person not younger than 18
years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED:
Name

Address

City, State, Zip

Name

Address

City, State, Zip

000027



Page 2 of 2
Proof of Service
Rev. 5/21/2021

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct.

_______________________________________________

PRINTED NAME

__________________________________________ __________________
SIGNATURE DATE SIGNED

PRINTED NAME

________________________ May , 2023

00
00
28



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit Document Description Page Numbers

T1 2015 Rent increase

T2 2016 Rent increase

T3 2023 Rent increase

T4 Decision in L17-0191

T5 Rent Payment Records

1 of 22000029



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T1

2 of 22000030



3 of 22000031



4 of 22000032



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T2

5 of 22000033



6 of 22000034



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T3

7 of 22000035



3/22/23, 6:02 PM AT&T Yahoo Mail - Rent Increase

about:blank 1/1

Rent Increase

From: Frisbie Oakland (frisbieoakland@gmail.com)

To: qkcam45@att.net

Date: Monday, January 2, 2023 at 09:32 AM PST

Cheri

Your total monthly rent of $1337.05 has two parts: base rent and the pass-through of costs for capital improvements
(capital pass-through) authorized under the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.

The total rent of $1337.05 has been unchanged since October 2016.  In accordance with the Rent Adjustment Program,
we have increased the base rent each year by the allowed Consumer Price Index (CPI) and decreased the capital pass-
through amount to retain the total rent of $1337.05.

As of August 1, 2022, your base rent authorized by the Oakland Rent Adjustment Program increased to $1352.70. 
Although the authorized amount for the capital pass-through has not been paid, we will waive all future payments for the
capital pass-through.

Your rent will increase to $1,352.70 beginning February 1, 2023.  

Your rent will be considered for a future increase on July 1, 2023 in accordance with the CPI increase allowed by the
Oakland Rent Adjustment Program.

Please let us know if you have questions.

Leah, Severin & Julie

8 of 22000036



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T4

9 of 22000037



10 of 22000038



11 of 22000039



12 of 22000040



13 of 22000041



14 of 22000042



City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program Case Number:T23-0058
Cheri Brooks

Tenant Evidence Submission

Exhibit T5

15 of 22000043



16 of 22000044



17 of 22000045



18 of 22000046



19 of 22000047



20 of 22000048



21 of 22000049



22 of 22000050



000051



000052



000053



000054



000055



000056



000057



000058



000059



000060



000061



000062



000063



000064



000065



000066



000067



000068



000069



000070



000071



000072



000073



000074



000075



000076



000077



000078



November 6, 2023

000079



PROOF OF SERVICE
Case Number T23-0058

I am a resident of the State of California at least eighteen years of age. I am not a party to the 
Residential Rent Adjustment Program case listed above. I am employed in Alameda County, 
California. My business address is 250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, 
California 94612.  

Today, I served the attached documents listed below by placing a true copy in a City of 
Oakland mail collection receptacle for mailing on the below date at 250 Frank H. Ogawa 
Plaza, Suite 5313, 5th Floor, Oakland, California, addressed to:

Documents Included
Appeal Decision

Owner
Severin Campbell
1315 Stannage Avenue
Berkeley, CA 94702

Tenant
Cheri Brooks
200 Frisbie Street, Unit 200
Oakland, CA 94611

Tenant Representative
Centro Legal de la Raza
3400 East 12th Street
Oakland, CA 94601

I am readily familiar with the City of Oakland’s practice of collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice an envelope placed in the mail collection 
receptacle described above would be deposited in the United States mail with the U.S. Postal 
Service on that same day with first class postage thereon fully prepaid in the ordinary course of 
business.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct. Executed on November 07, 2023 in Oakland, CA.

Briana Lawrence-McGowan

Oakland Rent Adjustment Program

B i L M G

000080



000081



000082



000083



000084



000085



000086



000087



000088



000089



00
00
90



000091



Revised February 29, 2024

APPEAL
Appellant's Name

Severin Campbell
x Owner Tenant

Property Address (Include Unit Number)
200 Frisbie Street,
Oakland CA 94611

Appellant's Mailing Address (For receipt of notices)
Severin Campbell
1315 Stannage Avenue
Berkeley CA 94702

Case Number
T23-0058

Date of Decision appealed
April 17, 2024

Name of Representative (if any)
N/a

Representative's Mailing Address (For
notices)

Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must 
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed 
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation.

1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. 
The Hearing Officer used the wrong base rent amount when calculating restitution. The base rent as of 
October 2015 was $1,123 (not $1,105) and as of October 2016 was $1,146 (not $1,127).

2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required):

a) The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations, or prior 
decisions of the Board. 

The Hearing Officer Decision is inconsistent with 8.22.070.C.a.(3) and 8.22.070.C.a.(5)

The Hearing Officer’s April 17, 2023 Decision states that the “owner failed to remove two Capital 
Improvement Rent increases on the first month following the end of each amortization period”. This is 
not correct. 

The original owner submission in response to T23-0058 included detailed documentation showing that 
the total Capital Improvement Rent increases, implemented in 2015 and 2016, were removed when the 
Capital Improvement Rent increases were completed and prior to the end of the 60-month amortization
period. This information was further detailed in the spreadsheet accompanying the appeal to the August 
22, 2023 Administrative Decision. The Hearing Officer does not indicate in the Decision, dated April 17, 
2024, if the documentation submitted with the owner’s response to petition T23-0058 and with the 
appeal to the Administrative Decision was reviewed or considered. 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp.

RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM

www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

000092



Revised February 29, 2024  

 

 
Also, as noted in the October 6, 2023 Memorandum from the Deputy City Attorney to the HRRRB, “The 
Ordinance and Regulations do not specify exactly how the pass-through expires at the end of the 
amortization period—meaning, they do not require owners to provide a particular type of notice.” 
 

b)  The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your 
explanation, you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is 
inconsistent.) 

The Hearing Officer Decision states that the Capital Improvement Rent increase of $118.37, approved 
by the RAP Hearing Officer in response to owner petition L17-0191, is “moot because the owners 
withdrew this rent increase…”.  This is not correct. 

The owners did not withdraw the Capital Improvement Rent increase. The tenant was never told 
verbally or in writing that the Capital Improvement Rent increase was withdrawn. The information 
provided to the tenant was that the total rent of $1337.05, including both base rent and capital 
improvement pass-through, would not be increased. 

The Capital Improvement Rent increase has never exceeded $118.37 per month or extended beyond 
the 72-month amortization period, which was scheduled to begin on July 1, 2018, and end on June 30, 
2024. The Rent Adjustment Program ordinance does not provide for the owner to give subsequent 
written notice after the properly served initial notice. 

c)  The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your 
explanation, you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be 
decided in your favor.) 

d)  The decision violates federal, state, or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a 
detailed statement as to what law is violated.) 

e)  The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must 
explain why the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.) 

As noted above, the original owner submission in response to T23-0058 included detailed 
documentation showing that the total Capital Improvement Rent increases, implemented in 2015 and 
2016, were removed when the Capital Improvement Rent increases were completed and prior to the 
end of the 60-month amortization period. This information was further detailed in the spreadsheet 
accompanying the appeal to the August 22, 2023 Administrative Decision. The Hearing Officer does not 
indicate in the Decision, dated April 17, 2024, if the documentation submitted with the owner’s response 
to petition T23-0058 and with the appeal to the Administrative Decision was reviewed or considered. 
f) I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner's 

claim.  
The Hearing Officer determined that the property owner response to T23-0058 was not timely.  Our 
response was timely. On May 3, 2023, we received from the tenant the petition form downloaded from the 
Rent Adjustment Program (RAP) website. We served a copy of the owner response to the tenant and tenant 
representative by US Mail on May 4, 2023. The owner response included the Proof of Service statement 
(Attachment I). 

g)  The decision denies the Owner a fair return on the Owner's investment. (You may appeal on 
this ground only when your underlying petition was based on a fair return claim. You must specifically 
state why you have been denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.) 

h)  Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.) 
 

Supporting documents (in addition to this form) must not exceed 25 pages, and must be received by 
the Rent Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on the opposing party, within 15 days of 000093



Revised February 29, 2024

Severin Campbell

the filing of this document. Only the first 25 pages of submissions from each party will be considered by the 
Board, subject to Regulations 8.22.010(A)(4). Please number attached pages consecutively.

• You must serve a copy of your appeal on the opposing parties, or your appeal may be dismissed.•

I served a copy of: Appeal to April 17, 2024 Hearing Office Decision And Additional Documents (1. 
Memorandum to HRRRB); 2. May 4, 2023 Proof of Service; 3. Rent Payment Details)
and 7 attached pages to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are listed below, by one of 
the following means (check one):

a. First-Class Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to the
person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with the 
United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

David Hall

Address Centro Legal de la Raza
3400 E. 12th Street

City, State Zip Oakland, CA 94601

Emai Address dhall@centrolegal.org

Cheri Brooks

Address 200 Frisbie Street

City, State Zip Oakland CA 94611

Emai Address Qkcam45@att.net

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct, 
and the documents were served on 4/26/2024

PRINT YOUR NAME

April 26,2024

SIGNATURE DATE

IMPORTANT INFORMATION:

This Appeal must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program, 250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 
5313, Oakland, California 94612, not later than 5:00 P.M. on the 20th calendar day after the date 
the decision was mailed to you as shown on the proof of service attached to the decision. If the 
last day to file is a weekend or holiday, the time to file the document is extended to the next business 

000094



Revised February 29, 2024  

day. 
 

• Appeals filed late without good cause will be dismissed. 
• You must provide all the information required, or your appeal cannot be processed and 

may be dismissed. 
• Any response to the appeal by the responding party must be received by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on appealing party, within 30 days of 
service of the service of the appeal if the party was personally served. If the responding 
party was served the appeal by mail, the party must file the response within 35 days of the 
date the appeal was mailed to them. 

• There is no form for the response, but the entire response is limited to 25 pages or less. 
• The Board will not consider new claims. All claims, except jurisdictional issues, must have been 

made in the petition, response, or at the hearing. 
• The Board will not consider new evidence at the appeal hearing without specific approval. 
• You must sign and date this form or your appeal will not be processed. 
• The case record is available to the Board, but sections of audio recordings that you want the Board 

to review must be pre-designated to Rent Adjustment Staff. 

000095



000096



000097



Page 1 000098



2 000099



2 000100



Proof of Service 
Rev. 5/21/2021

PROOF OF SERVICE

NOTE: YOU ARE REQUIRED TO SERVE A COPY OF YOUR RESPONSE (PLUS ANY 
ATTACHMENTS) ON THE TENANT(S) PRIOR TO FILING YOUR RESPONSE WITH RAP.

1) Use this PROOF OF SERVICE form to indicate the date and manner of service and the person(s) served.

2) Note: Email is not a form of allowable service on a party of a petition or response pursuant to the Ordinance.
3) Provide a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form to the person(s) being served together with the 

documents being served.
4) File a completed copy of this PROOF OF SERVICE form with RAP together with your Response. Your 

Response will not be considered complete until this form has been filed indicating that service has occurred.

On the following date: 04/ 26 _/ 2024_ I served a copy of (check all that apply):

PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSE TO TENANT PETITION plus attached pages 
(number of pages attached to Response not counting the Response form or PROOF OF 
SERVICE)

Other: Appeal to April 17 2024 Hearin Officer Decision and 7 attached pages

by the following means (check one):

United States Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to
the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with the 
United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid.

Personal Service. I personally delivered the document(s) to the person(s) at the address(es) 
listed below or I left the document(s) at the address(es) with some person not younger than
18 years of age.

PERSON(S) SERVED:
Name Cheri Brooks

Address 200 Frisbie Street

City, State, Zip Oakland, CA 94611

Name David Hall, Centro Legal de la Raza

Address 3400 East 12th Street

City, State, Zip Oakland, CA 94601

Page 1 of 2 

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp.CITY OF OAKLAND
RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243
(510) 238-3721
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

000101



Rev. 5/21/2021

Severin Campbell

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and 
correct.

PRINTED NAME

April 26,2024

SIGNATURE DATE

Proof of Service
Page 2 of 2 

000102



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT 

Case No.:    L24-0025 

Case Name:    Sun v. Tenant 

Property Address:    534 31st Street, Oakland, CA 94609 

Parties:    Gordon Sun (Owner) 
   Janet Sun (Owner Representative) 
   Tedros Kifle (Tenant)  

OWNER APPEAL: 

Activity Date 

Petition filed (Owner) May 1, 2024  

Owner Exhibits May 9, 2024  

Tenant’s Letter June 8, 2024 

Administrative Decision July 2, 2024 

Appeal filed (Owner) July 12, 2024 

000103



000104



000105



000106



000107



000108



000109



000110



000111



000112



000113



00
01
14



000115



000116



000117



000118



000119



000120



000121



000122



000123



000124



000125



000126



000127



000128



000129



000130



000131



000132



000133



000134



000135



000136



000137



000138



000139



000140



000141



000142



Revised February 29, 2024 

APPEAL 
Appellant’s Name

Owner    Tenant

Property Address (Include Unit Number)

Appellant’s Mailing Address (For receipt of notices) Case Number

Date of Decision appealed

Name of Representative (if any) Representative’s Mailing Address (For 
notices)

Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must 
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed 
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation.  

1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. (Please clearly 
explain the math/clerical errors.)

2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required): 

a)  The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations, or prior 
decisions of the Board. (In your explanation, you must identify the Ordinance section, 
Regulation or prior Board decision(s) and describe how the description is inconsistent.)

b) The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your 
explanation, you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is 
inconsistent.)

c) The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your 
explanation, you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be 
decided in your favor.)

d)  The decision violates federal, state, or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a 
detailed statement as to what law is violated.)

e) The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must 
explain why the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.)

CITY OF OAKLA D 
RE T ADJUSTME T PROGRAM 
250 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 5313 
Oakland, CA 94612-0243 
(510) 238-3721 
CA Relay Service 711 
www.oaklandca.gov/RAP

For Rent Adjustment Program date stamp. 

Gordon Sun X

534 31st Street, Unit 1, Oakland, CA 94609

2981 Northwood Drive, Alameda, CA 94501
L24 - 0025

Janet Sun 2981 Northwood Drive, 
Alameda, CA 94501

07/12/2024

X

X

000143



Revised February 29, 2024 

f) I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner’s 
claim. (In your explanation, you must describe how you were denied the chance to defend your 
claims and what evidence you would have presented. Note that a hearing is not required in every 
case. Staff may issue a decision without a hearing if sufficient facts to make the decision are not 
in dispute.) 

g) The decision denies the Owner a fair return on the Owner’s investment. (You may appeal on 
this ground only when your underlying petition was based on a fair return claim. You must specifically 
state why you have been denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.)  

h) Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.)

Supporting documents (in addition to this form) must not exceed 25 pages, and must be received by 
the Rent Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on the opposing party, within 15 days of 
the filing of this document. Only the first 25 pages of submissions from each party will be considered by the 
Board, subject to Regulations 8.22.010(A)(4). Please number attached pages consecutively. 

You must serve a copy of your appeal on the opposing parties, or your appeal may be dismissed. 

I served a copy of: ___________________________________________ (insert name of document served) 
 And Additional Documents 

and (write number of attached pages)  attached pages (not counting the Appeal Form or the Proof of 
Service) to each opposing party, whose name(s) and address(es) are listed below, by one of the following 
means (check one):

a. First-Class Mail. I enclosed the document(s) in a sealed envelope or package addressed to
the person(s) listed below and at the address(es) below and deposited the sealed envelope with 
the United States Postal Service, with the postage fully prepaid. 
b. Personal Service. (1) By Hand Delivery: I personally delivered the document(s) to the 
person(s) at the address(es) listed below; or (2) I left the document(s) at the address(es) with 
some person not younger than 18 years of age. 
c. Electronic Service. I electronically sent the document(s) to the person(s) at the address(es) 
listed below who have previously given written consent to receiving notices and documents in 
this matter from the RAP and from the OTHER PARTY/IES electronically at the email 
address(es) they provided. 

Name

Address

City, State Zip

Email Address 

Name

Address

City, State Zip

Tedros Ki e

Appeal for L24 - 0025
X

X

X

304 FAIRMOUNT AVE APT 1

OAKLAND, CA 94611

ki etedros594@gmail.com

4

000144



Revised February 29, 2024 

Email Address  

 
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct, 
and the documents were served on / /     /  (insert date served). 

 

PRINT YOUR NAME 

SIGNATURE         DATE 

 
IMPORTANT INFORMATION: 
 
This Appeal must be received by the Rent Adjustment Program, 250 Frank Ogawa Plaza, Suite 
5313, Oakland, California 94612, not later than 5:00 P.M. on the 20th calendar day after the date 
the decision was mailed to you as shown on the proof of service attached to the decision. If the 
last day to file is a weekend or holiday, the time to file the document is extended to the next business 
day. 

 
• Appeals filed late without good cause will be dismissed. 
• You must provide all the information required, or your appeal cannot be processed and                                 

may be dismissed. 
• Any response to the appeal by the responding party must be received by the Rent 

Adjustment Program, along with a proof of service on appealing party, within 30 days of 
service of the service of the appeal if the party was personally served. If the responding 
party was served the appeal by mail, the party must file the response within 35 days of the 
date the appeal was mailed to them.  

• There is no form for the response, but the entire response is limited to 25 pages or less. 
• The Board will not consider new claims.  All claims, except jurisdictional issues, must have been 

made in the petition, response, or at the hearing. 
• The Board will not consider new evidence at the appeal hearing without specific approval. 
• You must sign and date this form or your appeal will not be processed. 
• The case record is available to the Board, but sections of audio recordings that you want the Board 

to review must be pre-designated to Rent Adjustment Staff. 
 

7/12/2024

Janet Sun

7/12/2024

000145



 Appeal - L24-0025 

 This is an appeal of the administrative decision on case number L24-0025 issued 07/01/2024. 
 The grounds for appeal and explanations are listed below: 

 1.  I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim 
 The administrative decision was based on a May 16, 2024 owner-reported unit vacancy 
 that was not part of the petition. I was not aware the owner-reported unit vacancy would 
 be used to render the decision or that the decision would use evidence from after May 1, 
 2024 the date of the petition. The evidence that would have been presented are: 

 a.  the circumstances of the no-fault eviction where the tenant reserves the right to 
 return and therefore remains subject to the rent and allowed rent increases 
 (attached) 

 b.  The evidence that the tenant failed to reside in the unit from May 1, 2024 - May 
 15, 2024 until the relocation. 

 i.  The tenant continued to be completely absent from the unit from May 1, 
 2024 - May 6, 2024 

 ii.  The tenant continued to not use the unit as sleeping quarters from May 1, 
 2024 - May 15, 2024, despite visiting the unit for the first time on May 7, 
 2024 one day after the notice of the petition was delivered. 

 2.  The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board 
 Regulations, or prior decisions of the Board. 
 The administrative decision classified Tedros Kifle as someone not a tenant and not 
 “entitled to the use or occupancy of any covered unit by written or oral agreement”. 
 However under the no-fault eviction exercised (OMC 8.22.360), Tedros Kifle holds a first 
 right to return to the premises at the same rent and pursuant to a rental agreement, and 
 therefore is a person entitled to the use or occupancy of the covered unit by written or 
 oral agreement. 

 The rationale for the administrative decision incorrectly states that the issue raised in the 
 petition “cannot be addressed”. However the issue can be addressed by rent increase 
 after the tenant’s return to the unit under OMC 8.22.360. 

 3.  The decision violates federal, state, or local law. 
 The rationale for the administrative decision incorrectly stated that the issue raised in the 
 petition “no longer exists”. This statement conflicts with the determination of principal 
 residence (California Code, Revenue and Taxation Code 18662, Section 121 Internal 
 Revenue Code) based on a prior period and/or the last tax year. The evidence in the 
 petition holds valid for tenant not residing in the unit as principal residence even after 
 applying all of the following periods and therefore should be considered: 

   Last 12 months from today (July 12, 2024) 
   Last 12 months from the date of the relocation (May 16, 2024) 

000146



   Last 12 months from the date of the petition (May 1, 2024) and 
   Last tax year (TY 2023) 

000147



Janet Sun <janet.sun@gmail.com

Temporarily moving out agreement

edros Kifle <kifletedros594@gmail.com> Tue, May 14, 2024 at 8:53 AM
o: janet.sun@gmail.com

Tedros Kifle

534 31st APT#1 Oakland CA 94609

kifletedros594@gmail.com
(510)830-6533
05/09/2024

Janet Sun  
2981 Northwood Dr Alameda, 94501

Dear Janet 

       I am writing to inform you of my decision to
temporarily vacate the premises at 534 31st APT#1
Oakland California 94609 due to the notice you have
provided. After careful consideration, I have determined
that it is in my best interest to comply with the terms
outlined in the notice and temporarily relocate since we
have been without a bedroom for the past three months.
Please be assured that my intention is to return to the
property once the specified period of time has elapsed. I
am committed to fulfilling my obligations as a tenant and
maintaining a positive landlord-tenant relationship. I am
willing to discuss any necessary matters during my
absence. I kindly request that you acknowledge receipt of
this letter and confirm your understanding of my temporary
relocation plans.Thank you for your attention to this
matter. Should you have any questions or require further
information, please do not hesitate to contact me at

Tedros Kifle
(510)830-6533                             Or             My brother
Adam    (510)880-9295
kifletedros594@gmail.com          Or             My  brother
Adam    adamhkifle@gmail.com
Mail address 

000148



OAKLAND, CA 94611

Sincerely,

Tedros Kifle.

000149



1 
 

 
                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                            Rent Adjustment Program

MEMORANDUM
Date: July 8, 2024

To: Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation 
                                Board (HRRRB)

From: Braz Shabrell, Deputy City Attorney  

Re: Appeal Memo and Recommendation in T23-0058, Brooks v. 
Campbell

                    
Appeal Hearing Date:       September 12, 2024

Property Address: 200 Frisbie Street #200, Oakland CA

Appellant/Owner: Severin Campbell

Respondent/Tenant: Cheri Brooks

BACKGROUND

On May 1, 2023, tenant filed a petition contesting three rent increases1 and alleging 
that the tenant’s rent was not reduced after a prior increase period for capital 
improvements. The tenant alleged that the tenant first received a RAP Notice in March 
2015, and that the tenant received a RAP Notice with the rent increases in 2015 and 
2016, but not 2023.

In the owner response, the owner alleged that the increases in the tenant’s rent 
over the years have been a combination of CPI increases and capital improvement pass-
throughs. The 2015 increase was based on a 1.7% CPI increase and a pass-through for 
capital improvement costs of 8.3%. The 2016 increase was based on a 2% CPI increase 
and a pass-through for capital improvement costs of 8%. In 2018, the owner received 
approval from RAP to increase the rent to $1,455, but the owner agreed to keep the rent 
at $1,337. On January 2, 2023, the owner notified the tenant that rent would increase to 
$1,352 based on CPI adjustments.

                                                           
1 $1105 to $1215.50, effective 10/1/15; $1215 to $1337.05, effective 10/1/16; $1337.05 to $1352.70, 
effective 2/1/23. 

000150



2 
 

2023 ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION

On August 22, 2023, the Hearing Officer issued an Administrative Decision, 
granting the tenant’s petition in part. The 2023 increase was invalid because it was served 
without a RAP Notice, which was corroborated by the owner’s response. 

The October 2015 increase from $1,105 to $1,215 was valid because it did not 
exceed 10%, and because the laws in effect at that time allowed owners to pass on capital 
improvement costs without needing prior approval from RAP. The 10% rent increase 
combined a 1.7% CPI increase ($18.79) with an 8.3% increase ($91.72) based on capital 
improvements. Although the increase was valid, the portion of the increase that was 
based on capital improvements ($91.72) should have expired after 60 months, which was 
September 30, 2020. Therefore, the Hearing Officer found that the tenant was entitled to 
restitution of $91.212 per month from October 2020 to August 2023, totaling $3,192.35.   

The October 2016 increase was invalid because it exceeded 10%. In October 
2016, the tenant’s rent increased from $1,123.79 to $1,146.26 due to a 2% CPI increase 
and a capital improvement pass through of $190.79 (16.98%), for a total rent increase of 
18.98%. Therefore, the tenant is entitled to restitution for overpayments. Additionally, the 
2016 pass-through ($190.79) should have expired after 60 months, which was September 
30, 2021. Therefore, the Hearing Officer found the tenant was entitled to restitution of 
$190.79 per month from October 2021 to August 2023, totaling $4,388.17. 

The Hearing Officer determined that the total restitution owed to the tenant due to 
overpayments was $13,742.93, dating back to 2016.

2023 APPEAL

The owner appealed the Administrative Decision, and the case came before the 
Board on October 12, 2023. After arguments and Board discussion, the Board voted to 
uphold the decision regarding the 2023 rent increase and remanded the case back to the 
Hearing Officer for a hearing on the other issues.

REMAND HEARING DECISION

On February 6, 2024, a hearing was held, and on April 17, 2024, the Hearing 
Officer issued a decision granting the petition in part. Among other things, the Hearing 
Officer found that the owner failed to remove two capital improvement pass-throughs 
following the end of their amortization periods, and the tenant is owed restitution in the 
amount of $7,984.68. The owner’s contention that the rent increases were lawful because 
the owner emailed the tenants with explanations about how the increases were structured 
are not relevant because the emails are not valid rent increase notices. The owner
contends that the base rent was adjusted each year based on CPI and the capital 

                                                           
2 This figure of $91.21 that was included in the calculation chart appears to have been a clerical error, since the 
actual pass-through amount was $91.72. 

000151



3 
 

improvement pass-throughs were incrementally lowered accordingly. However, the 
tenant credibly and repeatedly testified that she was never served personally or received 
by mail any written rent increase notices after 2015. Therefore, any increases in the 
tenant’s base rent after 2015 were invalid because they were not properly noticed. 

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL

The owner appeals the Hearing Officer’s finding that the owner failed to remove 
the capital improvement pass-throughs because the owner submitted documentation 
detailing how these increases were removed at the end of the 60-month amortization 
period. The owner alleges that the owner was denied a sufficient opportunity to present 
their claims because the Hearing Officer determined that the owner’s response was not 
timely, and the decision does not indicate whether the owner’s documentation was 
considered. The owner once again appeals the determination that the owner response 
was not timely.

ISSUES

1. Was the owner denied a sufficient opportunity to present their claims?
2. Is the Hearing Officer’s decision supported by substantial evidence?

APPLICABLE LAW 

Capital Improvement Pass-Throughs 

o A landlord can pass on a percentage of costs spent on capital improvements 
to a tenant through a rent increase. Prior to 2017, owners were not required to 
file a petition prior to imposing capital improvement pass-throughs, and pass-
through amounts were subject to a 60-month (5-year) amortization period3.
Rent Regulations, Appendix A (effective 2015). 

o At the end of the 60-month period, the pass-through should expire. “The dollar 
amount of the rent increase justified by Capital Improvements shall be removed
from the allowable rent in the sixty-first month or at the end of the extended 
amortization period.” Rent Regulations, Appendix A, sec. 10.2.3 (effective 
2015).

o Capital improvement pass-throughs are different from other types of rent 
increases in that they do not adjust the tenant’s base rent, but rather are treated 
separately. Any CPI adjustments that are made during the amortization period 
should be calculated using the tenant’s base rent, exclusive of the capital 
improvement pass-through. 

                                                           
3 Now, capital improvement pass-throughs are amortized over the useful life of the improvement, as set out in the 
amortization schedule included in the Regulations. 

000152



4 
 

o The total amount of any single rent increase cannot exceed 10%. OMC 
8.22.070A2.

Expiration of Amortization Period

o The Ordinance and Regulations do not specify exactly how the pass-through 
expires at the end of the amortization period—meaning, they do not require 
owners to provide a particular type of notice. The Regulations state that “[t]he
dollar amount of the rent increase justified by Capital Improvements shall be 
removed from the allowable rent in the sixty-first month or at the end of the 
extended amortization period.” Regulations, Appendix A, 10.2.3.2 (effective 
2015). 

o “If an Owner fails to reduce a Capital Improvement Rent increase in the month 
following the end of the amortization period for such improvement and the 
Tenant pays any portion of such Rent increase after the end of the amortization 
period, the Tenant may recover interest on the amount overpaid.”  Regulations, 
Appendix A, 10.2.5.1 (effective 2015). 

Notice Requirements

o Valid notice is required to increase a tenant’s rent. As part of a notice to 
increase rent based on CPI, an owner must include the CPI amount in the 
notice and provide the tenant with a RAP notice. OMC 8.22.070H.

o A rent increase is not permitted unless the notice meets the requirements of 
California Civil Code Section 827. OMC 8.22.070H5.

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME

The office of the City Attorney recommends that the Board affirm the Hearing 
Decision granting the tenant’s petition in part. Regarding the timeliness of the owner’s 
response, the Hearing Decision notes that although the owner’s response was untimely, 
the owner’s participation in the hearing was not limited to cross-examination and 
summation. The owner provided testimony and already communicated in detail the points 
raised on appeal. It is evident from the Hearing Decision that the Hearing Officer took the 
owner’s evidence and arguments into account despite the finding of untimeliness which 
would normally require such evidence be excluded. Based on the record, the hearing, 
and the Hearing Decision, it does not appear that the owner was denied due process or 
that a finding of timeliness would change the outcome of the decision. The Hearing 
Decision reflects that the Hearing Officer took the owner’s arguments and evidence into 
account and still found them insufficient to justify the increases in the tenant’s rent.

As the Hearing Officer points outs, despite the owner’s intentions and rationale 
behind the tenant’s rent charges, rent increases must be noticed and served in a lawful 

000153



5 
 

manner in order to be valid. Although it may have been logical to the owner to taper and 
adjust the tenant’s base rent over the years in the manner explained by the owner, CPI 
increases are not automatic or implied, and any/all increases must be accompanied by
proper notice. Owners are entitled to defer certain increase amounts to be applied at a 
later date if they exceed annual limitations (OMC 8.22.070A4), but this does not negate 
the need for service of a valid notice.

000154



1 
 

 
                                                        CITY OF OAKLAND   
                            Rent Adjustment Program

MEMORANDUM
Date: September 6, 2024

To: Members of the Housing, Rent Residential & Relocation 
                                Board (HRRRB)

From: Braz Shabrell, Deputy City Attorney  

Re: Appeal Memo and Recommendation in L24-0025, Sun v. 
Tenant

                    
Appeal Hearing Date:       September 12, 2024

Property Address: 534 31st Street, Unit 1, Oakland CA

Appellant/Owner: Janet Sun

Respondent/Tenant: Tedros Kifle

BACKGROUND

On May 1, 2024, the owner filed a petition seeking approval of an unlimited rent 
increase based on the owner’s contention that the tenant no longer resides in the unit as 
their primary residence. A remote hearing was scheduled for July 1, 2024.

RULING ON THE CASE

On June 28, 2024, the Hearing Officer issued an Administrative Decision denying 
the owner’s petition. The petition was denied on the basis that, on May 21, 2024, the unit 
was “reported as vacant” by the owner. Therefore, the issue raised in the petition no 
longer existed and could not be addressed by the Hearing Officer.

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL

The owner filed an appeal on the grounds that the owner was denied a sufficient
opportunity to present their claim and the decision is inconsistent with the law. The 
dismissal is based on information the owner reported to the Rent Registry that was not 
part of the petition. The Administrative Decision’s classification of the respondent as 
someone who is not a tenant and not “entitled to the use or occupancy of any covered 

000155



2 
 

unit by written or oral agreement” is incorrect because the respondent maintains the right 
to return to the premises and the issue of whether the owner is entitled to set a new rent 
can be addressed when the tenant returns to the unit.

ISSUES

1. Is the Hearing Officer’s finding that the “issue raised in the petition no longer 
exists and cannot be addressed” supported by substantial evidence?

2. Does the registration status of a unit in the Rent Registry constitute an
undisputed fact as to the occupancy status of a unit for purposes of a RAP 
proceeding?

APPLICABLE LAW AND PAST BOARD DECISIONS

Hearing Procedure & Administrative Decisions

OMC 8.22.110A. “Hearing Officer. A hearing shall be set before a Hearing Officer 
to decide the issues in the petition.”

OMC 8.22.110F. A Hearing Officer may issue an Administrative Decision in lieu
of holding a hearing in the following situations:

a. The petition or response forms have not been properly completed or 
submitted;

b. The petition or response forms have not been filed in a timely manner;
c. The required prerequisites to filing a petition or response have not been 

met;
d. A certificate of exemption was previously issued and is not challenged 

by the tenant; or
e. The petition and response forms raise no genuine dispute as to any 

material fact, and the petition may be decided as a matter of law.

Rent Increase Based on Tenant Not Occupying as Primary Residence

OMC 8.22.070C. “Rent Increases in Excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or 
Banking.

1. For Rent increases based on grounds other than the CPI Rent Adjustment 
or Banking, an Owner must first petition the Rent Program and receive 
approval for the Rent increase before the Rent increase can be imposed. A 
Rent increase in excess of the CPI Rent Adjustment or a Banking increase 
must be justified on one or more of the following grounds:

a. Capital improvement costs, including financing of capital 
improvement costs;

b. Uninsured repair costs;
c. Increased housing service costs;

000156



3 
 

d. The rent increase is necessary to meet constitutional or fair return 
requirements;

e. The rent increase is imposed for an additional occupant, as defined 
by Section 8.22.020.

f. The unlimited rent increase is imposed because the tenant is not 
residing in the unit as their principal residence.

Regulation 8.22.070 (f): “An Owner who seeks to impose a rent increase without 
limitation because the Tenant is not residing in the unit as their principal residence 
must petition for approval of the unrestricted rent increase based on a 
determination made pursuant to a hearing that the Tenant does not reside in the 
unit as their principal residence as of the date the petition is filed. The Hearing 
Officer shall not consider evidence in support of a petition that is obtained in 
violation of California Civil Code Section 1954 or the Oakland Tenant Protection 
Ordinance.”

Temporary Vacancy for Repairs

OMC 8.22.360A10; OMC 15.60. When an owner requires a tenant to vacate a unit 
to allow the owner to complete necessary repairs that cannot be completed while 
the unit is occupied, such vacancy shall be temporary in nature and does not 
operate to terminate a tenancy. Tenants who vacate pursuant to such notice from 
an owner have a right to reoccupy the unit immediately upon completion of the 
necessary repairs. OMC 8.22.360A10a:

a. As soon as the tenant vacates the rental unit, the owner of record 
shall proceed without unreasonable delay to complete the needed 
repairs. The tenant shall not be required to vacate pursuant to this 
Section, for a period in excess of three (3) months; provided, 
however, that such time period may be extended for good cause 
upon application to, and approval by, the Rent Adjustment Program. 
The Rent Board shall adopt rules and regulations to implement the 
application procedure.

b. Upon completion of the needed repairs, the owner of record shall 
offer the tenant the first right to return to the premises at the same 
rent and pursuant to the same terms of the rental agreement in effect 
as of the date of the notice to vacate, subject to the owner of record's 
right to petition the Rent Adjustment Program for a rent increase as 
provided by the Residential Rent Adjustment Ordinance.

RECOMMENDED OUTCOME

The Office of the City Attorney recommends that the Board remand the matter for a 
hearing on the merits. The Administrative Decision states that the unit “was reported as 
vacant by the Owner.” It is not clear from the record how or why such determination was 

000157



4 
 

made. Presumably, the Hearing Officer checked the Rent Registry on their own initiative 
and concluded that the owner’s self-reported occupancy status of the unit rendered the 
issues raised in the petition as moot. However, the unit’s rent registry status is not a part 
of the record, nor does such information establish that there is no genuine dispute as to 
any material fact. If anything, the unit’s registration status as “vacant” would create a 
dispute as to the facts alleged in the petition.

When a tenant permanently vacates a rental unit—i.e., when either a tenant or an 
owner lawfully terminates a tenancy—a petition to increase the former tenant’s rent 
would be moot. Here, there is no evidence in the record as of the date of the Decision 
that the underlying tenancy had been terminated or that the unit was no longer 
occupied. In their appeal, the owner presents evidence suggesting that the owner 
provided the tenants with a notice instructing the tenants to temporarily vacate,
presumably due to code enforcement activity. Without discussing the legality of the 
owner’s actions, it is important to note that if the tenants were required to vacate 
temporarily—whether lawfully or unlawfully—any such temporary vacancy would not 
terminate the tenancy and the tenants would be entitled to reoccupy the unit as soon as 
the unit is made habitable, at the same rental rate as before the tenants temporarily 
vacated. 

000158



 

3335794v2/ O.L. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY 

 
________________________ 

CITY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE 

 
CITY OF OAKLAND HOUSING, 

RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD  
 

RESOLUTION NO. ______________ C.M.S. 
 

INTRODUCED BY BOARD CHAIR DENARD INGRAM 
 
 

RESOLUTION (1) ADOPTING, SUBJECT TO CITY COUNCIL 
APPROVAL, AMENDMENT OF THE RENT ADJUSTMENT 
PROGRAM REGULATIONS TO PERMIT ANY CATEGORY OF 
MEMBER OF THE HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT, AND 
RELOCATION BOARD TO SERVE AS A BOARD OFFICER AND (2) 
RECOMMENDING THE CITY COUNCIL’S APPROVAL OF THE 
REGULATION AMENDMENT  

 

WHEREAS, Oakland Municipal Code (“O.M.C”.) 8.22.040.D.2. currently outlines that 
the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board (“Board”) may develop or amend the 
regulations for the Residential Rent Adjustment Program Ordinance (“Regulations”), subject to 
City Council approval; and 

WHEREAS, the Board composition consists of two members who are tenants, two 
members who are residential rental property owners, and three members who are neither, referred 
to by the Board as “Undesignated” members, in addition to alternates; and 

WHEREAS, the Regulations require the Board to elect Board officers (Chair and Vice-
Chair) each year, and currently require that such officers be selected from among members who 
are Undesignated; and  

WHEREAS, Oakland is the only Bay Area jurisdiction that requires its rent board to elect 
its officers from only one category of board member, those who are Undesignated, thereby 
preventing Board members who are tenants or residential rental property owners from serving as 
officers; and 

WHEREAS, the Board seeks to provide all regular members an opportunity to serve as 
officers, including Chair and Vice-Chair; now, therefore, be it 

RESOLVED: That subsection C (“Officers”) of 8.22.040 of the Rent Adjustment 

00
01
59



 

2 
 

Program Regulations is hereby amended as follows (additions are shown in double underline and 
deletions are shown in strikethrough): 

 
C.  Officers  
 
1. The Board shall select a Chair from among the Boardits regular members who are neither 
tenants nor residential rental property owners. Each Appeal Panel shall be chaired by the 
member of that panel who is neither a tenant nor a residential rental property owner.  
 
2. The Board may also select a Vice-Chair from among its regular members (who is neither a 
Tenant nor an Owner) to act as Chair in the Chair’s absence.  
 
3. The Officers shall serve one-year terms.  
 
4. The Board shall elect Officers each year at the second meeting in February.  
 
5. The Chair votes on matters as any other Board member.  

 
FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Housing, Residential Rent and Relocation Board 

recommends the City Council approve the amendments to the Rent Adjustment Program 
Regulations as set out herein.  
 

FURTHER RESOLVED: That the Board Chair, or their designee from the Board, is 
authorized to speak in support of this resolution before the City Council and its committees. 
 
 
APPROVED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 
AYES: BRODFUEHRER, DEBOER, ESCOBAR, OSHINUGA, TAYLOR, WILLIAMS, 

AND CHAIRPERSON INGRAM 

NOES: 

ABSENCES:  

ABSTENTIONS: 
 
 
Date:_____________________ ATTEST:        

NYILA WEBB 
Rent Adjustment Program 

 

000160



000161


	HRRRB Agenda & Packet with Appeal Memos & Summaries- Full Board Regular Meeting 09.12.2024.pdf

